FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/2/2023 2:09 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. \_\_\_\_

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82687-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### PREMERA AND PREMERAFIRST, INC,

Petitioner,

v.

#### THE EVERETT CLINIC, PLLC,

Respondents.

### PREMERA BLUE CROSS'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

WSBA No. 26752

JOHN R. NEELEMAN

WSBA No. 19752

KILPATRICK TOWNSEND &

STOCKTON LLP

1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3700

Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 467-9600

gpayton@kilpatricktownsend.com
jneeleman@kilpatricktownsend.com

**GWENDOLYN C. PAYTON** 

ADAM H. CHARNES
PRO HAC VICE PENDING
KILPATRICK TOWNSEND &
STOCKTON LLP

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This is a case about a massive healthcare entity raising prices for consumers over 50% overnight. The Everett Clinic ("TEC") is a large medical practice operating several dozen clinics in Washington. TEC is owned by Optum, a huge healthcare system with more than 125 million patients and providers at 90% of American hospitals. And Optum in turn is owned by UnitedHealth Group—the largest healthcare company in the world. It is undisputed that TEC has dominant market power in Snohomish County. Using that market power, TEC forces Premera to pay almost the highest reimbursement rates in all of Washington.

Not content with its market power in Snohomish County,
TEC developed a plan to dominate the Washington healthcare
market and raise prices elsewhere. As part of that plan, TEC
identified what it called a "lucrative scenario"—forcing
Premera to pay in King County the same high reimbursement

rates it commands in Snohomish County due to its market power.

TEC acquired Eastside Family Medicine Clinic ("EFMC") in Bellevue—which already had a contract with Premera with lower rates—and then demanded that Premera pay EFMC the significantly higher TEC rates that TEC began charging to EFMC's patients. TEC's primary motivation to acquire EFMC was to raise prices. Premera members were the largest source of EFMC's revenue. TEC realized that Premera could not survive without it in Snohomish County, and that it could make a significant profit by using its market power to force Premera to pay TEC rates at EFMC. But, to protect its members who were EFMC's patients, Premera said: *No*.

The trial court found that TEC's actions violated the

Consumer Protection Act, but the Court of Appeals reversed.

The court made two legal errors. First, the court held that

because TEC in Snohomish County and EFMC in King County

provide similar services, they offer the "same" product, so TEC

could lawfully tie them together. Second, the court held that because Premera and its members continue to use EFMC's services, Premera failed to establish the "coercion" required to establish tying. Both holdings represent legal error.

The Court of Appeals' decision leaves Premera and consumers powerless in the face of TEC's unfair exertion of its market power. Premera cannot survive in Snohomish County without TEC due to TEC's dominant market power. And TEC will only see Premera members if Premera allows TEC to charge its members above-market rates in King County. This ruling imposes a devastating financial impact on EFMC's patients, on their employers who pay the cost of their employees' healthcare, and on the healthcare system in Washington.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Petitioner Premera Blue Cross asks this Court to review Division One's decision dated January 3, 2023 ("Decision").

The Decision reversed the summary judgment dismissing TEC's breach of contract and declaratory judgment claims and granting summary judgment to Premera on its breach of contract and CPA clams. (App. A.) The Decision also reversed the Superior Court's award to Premera of \$1,263,907.66 in attorneys' fees and \$4,532.66 in costs. *Id*.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

TEC used its undisputed market power in Snohomish County to force Premera and consumers to acquiesce to an overnight 50% rate increase in King County. The question presented is:

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that TEC did not violate the CPA because as a matter of law (1) similar services offered in different geographical markets cannot represent different products for purposes of a tying claim, and (2) TEC did not utilize unlawful "coercion" because Premera and consumers continued to use EFMC's services after the 50% rate increase.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual background.

#### 1. The parties and health insurance market.

Premera—Premera is a not-for-profit based in
Mountlake Terrace serving Washingtonians since 1933. CP
682. Today, Premera serves more than 2 million people. *Id*.
Premera's mission is to control medical costs while ensuring access to quality healthcare for its members. *Id*.

Patients cannot negotiate the prices their healthcare providers charge, so Premera does that for them. CP 711.

Premera contracts with healthcare providers for a set price—the "reimbursement" doctors receive—and creates a network of providers. *Id.* Some providers command much higher than market rates because of their market power in a particular geography. CP 683, 711. Some providers—such as TEC—Premera must have in its network to survive. CP 684, 712-14, 759, 806-09.

Premera is required by law to carefully monitor rising costs for its members. RCW 48.44.010(9); RCW 48.44.020(1), (3). If Premera collects significantly more in premiums than it spends, it must issue a refund to members. *Id*. If Premera spends more than it collects, regulators require it to raise premiums. *Id*. This ensures financial stability. *Id*.

Premera's members incur direct financial liability for health care in several ways: they pay premiums for coverage; they pay a co-payment to the provider each visit; they usually pay a deductible; and many members must pay co-insurance, which is a percentage of the costs. TEC's price increases directly translate to higher premiums and increased out-of-pocket costs for patients. Where employers pay directly for health care costs, increased health care costs create downward pressure on wages and benefits. CP 700-04, 762, 790-91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Premera, *How Health Plans Work*, https://www.premera.com/visitor/how-health-plans-work; CP 700-01, 761-62, 789-91.

*TEC*—TEC is a large specialty physician group in Washington. It employs 550 clinicians in 30 locations, serving 320,000 patients. CP 3065. It is owned by Optum, which is a part of UnitedHealth Group. CP 712. Optum owns a massive healthcare system, serving more than 125 million patients through providers practicing at 90% of U.S. hospitals. *Id*. UnitedHealth Group is the world's largest healthcare company and Premera's direct competitor. *Id*.

TEC is the dominant healthcare provider in Snohomish County. CP 684. Snohomish County is a discrete market for physician services because of its large population and distance from Seattle. *Id*.

Premera and TEC negotiated a contract ("TEC Agreement") setting the rates Premera pays to TEC for Premera members. CP 2325-66. Premera pays TEC almost the highest rates in the state because of TEC's dominant market power in Snohomish County. CP 684, 805-06. Without TEC in its network, Premera could not survive and offer any products in

Snohomish County. CP 807. As one Premera employee testified, "the reason we pay the rate that we pay is because we feel like we have no choice." CP 368; *see also* CP 759 (Premera's members "wouldn't want to buy a product without The Everett Clinic in it").

TEC admits it has "captured" 35.8% of the commercial insurance market in Everett, 53.4% in Stanwood, 47% in both Smokey Point and Marysville, and 49.5% in Lake Stevens. CP 2952. In the Medicare Advantage market, TEC accounts for 41% of Premera's members in Snohomish County alone and, combined with its owner Optum, has 52% of Premera's members in Snohomish County. CP 684-85.

Not satisfied with its existing market power, TEC researched, in its own words, "how TEC may be able to *capture* a disproportionate share of the market" in Washington. CP 2952, 2954 (emphasis in original). And TEC's history shows that it dramatically raises prices on its patients in areas where it "capture[s] a disproportionate share of the market." *Id*.

*EFMC*—EFMC was a family medicine practice in Bellevue. CP 828. EFMC has a contract with Premera ("EFMC Agreement") that contains significantly lower rates than TEC.

# 2. Premera's agreements with TEC and EFMC limit contractual rates to existing facilities.

Premera was keenly aware of increasing consolidation among healthcare providers, resulting in a rapid increase in healthcare costs. CP 683, 705-06, 758. Large provider groups can exercise market power and demand higher reimbursement rates. CP 705-08. Studies have determined that "provider market power" is largely responsible for "variations in price, rather than differences in quality, payor mix, demographics, or health of the patient population." Jaime S. King & Erin C. Fuse Brown, *The Anti-Competitive Potential of Cross-Market Mergers in Health Care*, 11 St. Louis Univ. J. Health Law & Pol'y 43, 44 (2017).

Premera attempted to save its members from escalating costs with two consumer cost protection provisions in all of its

provider agreements, including Premera's agreements with TEC and EFMC. CP 2285, 2314.

Section 9.02(A) of the agreements addresses when a provider acquires another practice. That section prohibits the provider from applying the agreement to "another Provider, Practitioner, person or entity" that it acquired without Premera's consent. CP 2314.

Conversely, Section 9.02(B) of the provider agreements addresses when a provider is acquired. It provides that, if there was "[a]ny change in ownership or control" of the provider, including one "resulting" from an "asset sale," the contract rates continue to apply notwithstanding the acquisition. CP 2314.

### 3. TEC's strategy to achieve market dominance.

TEC announced in March 2016 that it wanted to double in size by 2020.<sup>2</sup> TEC then had no presence outside of Snohomish

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> .Jim Davis, *DaVita Healthcare paid \$405M to buy the Everett Clinic*, Everett Herald (June 29, 2016),

County but wanted to expand, particularly into King County, Washington's most populous county with 2.2 million residents. CP 768, 777-78. TEC planned to "acquir[e] groups" in King County. CP 768, 777.

TEC called its plan to dominate the healthcare provider market in western Washington a "roadmap to essentiality." CP 2395. TEC's goal was first to "re-entrench Snohomish County" and "win at home." *Id.* TEC then planned to expand southwest down Interstate 5. CP 778, 2395. TEC's owner Optum acquired The Polyclinic, a 210-physician practice with 12 locations in Seattle. CP 766, 894. TEC focused on expanding down I-405 to "establish an East King Beachhead." CP 848-50, 895-96, 2395. Ultimately, TEC's "roadmap to essentiality" was to connect with Northwest Physicians Network ("NPN"), a group of over 1,000 physicians also owned by Optum. CP 794, 2395.

https://www.heraldnet.com/news/davita-healthcare-paid-405m-to-buy-the-everett-clinic/

After Optum acquired the Polyclinic, TEC ramped up its expansion plans. CP 2990. TEC anticipated up to six acquisitions in Whatcom, Skagit, Snohomish, King, and Pierce Counties. CP 2932-34. As part of this plan, TEC acquired EFMC in 2018.

#### 4. TEC acquires EFMC.

TEC identified EFMC as a target for acquisition. CP 773. TEC knew acquiring EFMC would substantially increase costs to patients. CP 791, 1045-48. Raising patient prices was the rationale for the transaction. TEC repeatedly emphasized that applying TEC's contract rates to EFMC's patients presented a "lucrative scenario." CP 781-82, 982. Premera was EFMC's largest payor in terms of revenue. CP 940, 2390. EFMC gave TEC its contract with Premera, detailed information about Premera, including the number of Premera patients, revenue, amounts billed, the rate it received from Premera, and the amount that EFMC billed Premera members directly for their out-of-pocket patient cost share. CP 787-88, 835-39, 944-45,

2484-89. With this information, during due diligence TEC calculated the additional money it would make by charging TEC rates at EFMC. CP 780-82, 788, 839, 982, 2391-93. It did so despite knowing that it was "not supposed to have access to [EFMC's] pricing" before the acquisition closed because it is "anticompetitive." CP 785.

EFMC sent a letter to all patients telling them that EFMC was now part of TEC. CP 587. The letter did not mention the over 50% price increase for EFMC patients starting December 1.

TEC then demanded that Premera pay TEC's rates at EFMC going forward. CP 2924-26. Premera refused, based on the consumer cost escalation protection provisions in the TEC and EFMC contracts. CP 2924. As a compromise, Premera offered to blend the two rates to lessen the impact on consumers, but TEC refused. CP 755-56. Paying TEC's rates at EFMC would cause an immediate 54.5% increase in charges billed to patients. CP 754, 2924-26, 2928. The out-of-pocket

costs were \$70 to \$150 higher per service. CP 753-54, 1038-39, 2928. This overnight price increase would yield TEC at least an additional \$730,000 annually from EFMC's existing patients. CP 314-15, 2928.

Following the acquisition, EFMC patients complained about the sudden dramatic increase in prices. CP 791.

# 5. TEC deploys the same tactics at Island Internal Medicine and Polyclinic.

In 2020, TEC acquired Island Internal Medicine in Skagit County. CP 685. Premera's contract with Island Internal Medicine specified lower rates than TEC, but TEC demanded that Premera pay TEC rates there. *Id.* Premera refused. CP 757. In 2020, Optum demanded that Premera consolidate the Medicare Advantage contracts Premera had with three separate entities it owned—TEC, Polyclinic and NPN. CP 685-86, 2935-37. Premera resisted, concerned about how this consolidation would harm competition and increase members' costs. *Id.* In response, Optum threatened to terminate Premera's contracts

with TEC and Polyclinic. CP 685-86, 2938-39. So Premera had no option but to acquiesce to this demand and consolidate these contracts. CP 685-86. The combination of Polyclinic, NPN and TEC significantly consolidates the Washington healthcare market. CP 686.

#### B. Procedural history.

After Premera refused TEC's demand to pay higher rates, TEC filed this lawsuit against Premera for breach of contract and declaratory judgment. CP 1-5. Premera counterclaimed against TEC for breach of contract and violation of the CPA. CP 6-16.

The trial court granted Premera's motion for summary judgment and denied TEC's motion for summary judgment. CP 1457-63. The trial then court awarded Premera \$1,263,907.66 in attorneys' fees and \$4,532.66 in costs for prevailing on its CPA claim. CP 2044, 2049. The court later granted Premera's supplemental fee motion. CP 2021-23.

The Court of Appeals reversed. It rejected the Superior Court's findings that the EFMC Agreement bound TEC under successor liability principles. App. A at 8-16. The court also concluded that the TEC Agreement did not apply. App A. at 18.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's finding that TEC violated the CPA, concluding that Premera's CPA claim failed to satisfy two elements of a tying claim under federal antitrust law. First, the court found as a matter of law that a tying claim cannot be based on the tying of two separate geographic markets: "Premera is purchasing one product, TEC provider services, in multiple locations," not two different products as required to show a tying arrangement. App. A, at 23-24. The court reasoned that "these services' main distinguishing characteristic is the location where they are offered." *Id.* at 24. Second, the Court of Appeals found that the there was no "coercion" because TEC forced higher rates, rather than purchase of an additional product. The court found that Premera "provides no evidence of an interest in

discontinuing those services after TEC's purchase of the practice. Rather, Premera wants the product—the services in Bellevue—but at a different rate from the price at the other TEC locations." *Id.* at 24-25.

### V. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD GRANT THE PETITION

A. TEC used its dominant market power in Snohomish County to demand above-market rates in King County, which violates the CPA (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

The crux of Premera's CPA claim is that TEC possesses dominant market power in Snohomish County and uses that power to force consumers to pay supra-competitive prices in other markets. This conduct represents an unfair or deceptive act or practice.

The CPA prohibits "unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce." RCW 19.86.020. The purpose of the CPA is "to protect the public and foster fair and honest competition." RCW 19.86.920. "The legislature has directed that the CPA 'be liberally construed that its beneficial

purposes may be served." *Young v. Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A.*, 196 Wn.2d 310, 317 (2020) (quoting RCW 19.86.920).

A CPA claim requires the plaintiff to prove five elements: "(1) unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or commerce; (3) public interest impact; (4) injury to plaintiff in his or her business or property; (5) causation." *Hangman Ridge Training Stables v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 778, 780 (1986). TEC disputed only elements (1) and (4).

Premera established every element of the CPA with undisputed facts. But the Court of Appeals contended that Premera's CPA claim still failed because it had failed to establish two additional elements of a tying claim under the federal Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. Premera, however, is not required to establish a violation of the Sherman Act to prove that TEC violated the CPA. "Although [this Court has] been guided by federal interpretations, Washington has developed its own jurisprudence regarding application of Washington's

CPA." Klem v. Washington Mut. Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 787 (2013). In order to prove that TEC committed an unfair act under the CPA, Premera must prove that TEC's actions "cause[] or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by consumers themselves and is not outweighed by countervailing benefits," or "offend[] public policy as established by statutes [or] the common law, or is unethical, oppressive, or unscrupulous, among other things." Mellon v. Reg'l Tr. Servs. Corp., 182 Wn. App. 476, 489-90 (2014) (quoting Klem) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Court of Appeals never analyzed whether Premera's allegations satisfied this standard, and they plainly did.

TEC engaged in an unfair act or practice. *First*, the undisputed evidence establishes that King County and Snohomish County are separate healthcare markets. Premera's expert Dr. Burns, an economist who is a professor at the Wharton School of Business, testified that Snohomish County is a discrete market for physician services because of its

population, distance from Seattle, and the necessity that members have convenient access to their doctors. CP 713. TEC offered no contrary evidence.

Second, the Court of Appeals accepted that TEC has dominant market power in Snohomish County. It had to, because Premera offered undisputed evidence from lay and expert witnesses establishing TEC's market power. CP 684, 704-15, 759, 806-09. TEC offered no evidence in response to numerous Premera witnesses testifying to TEC's dominant market power in Snohomish County. See, e.g., CP 684, 704-15. TEC offered no response to Premera's expert detailed support for TEC's market power in Snohomish County. CP 712-15. Because TEC "did not present any evidentiary material at summary judgment to controvert" that TEC had market power in Snohomish County, this fact is "accepted as true." LaMon v. Butler, 112 Wn.2d 193, 199 (1989).

TEC used its market power in Snohomish County to drive up healthcare prices in other markets. TEC forced its

patients and Premera to pay higher than market prices in Snohomish County because of TEC's market power, and TEC now demands these extraordinary prices in King County and beyond. When competitors in the healthcare industry merge to extract higher rates, it directly harms consumers. Saint Alphonsus Med. Ctr.–Nampa, Inc. v. St. Luke's Health Sys., Ltd., Nos. 1:12-CV-00560-BLW, 1:13-CV-00116-BLW, 2014 WL 407446, at \*22 (D. Idaho Jan. 24, 2014), aff'd, 778 F.3d 775 (9th Cir. 2015). In Saint Alphonsus, the court held that the combination of two health care practices was anti-competitive because of the likelihood that the combined entity would increase prices. Id. As here, internal email exchanges showed that the purpose of the combination was to raise consumer prices.

A healthcare provider which imposes "all or nothing' terms on health plans, telling health plans that they cannot include ... hospitals [that health plans need] as in-network providers unless they also accept as in-network providers [the

provider's] hospitals in ... other geographic markets ... at the prices that [the provider] dictates," may be liable under unfair competition laws, including antitrust laws. *Sidibe v. Sutter Health*, No. 12-cv-04854-LB, 2019 WL 2078788, at \*2 (N.D. Cal. May 9, 2019); *Sidibe v. Sutter Health*, 667 F. App'x 641, 642 (9th Cir. 2016) (same).

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