I. INTRODUCTION 

The Court of Appeals carefully reviewed the relevant 

contracts and the underlying record and issued an unpublished 

decision favoring The Everett Clinic (“TEC”).  The court 

determined that Premera agreed to pay “TEC Rates” for services 

provided at all TEC facilities and breached that agreement by 

refusing to pay those rates for services at a facility TEC opened 

as its “Bellevue Clinic.”  The court also held that TEC is not a 

successor to the clinic that operated at the Bellevue location 

before TEC opened its clinic there.  (Court of Appeals Opinion 

(“Op.”) 6-21.) 

Premera does not challenge these rulings.  Rather, it seeks 

review of the ruling on Premera’s Consumer Protection Act 

(“CPA”) claim, RCW Chapter 19.86.  The Court of Appeals 

decided that TEC was entitled to summary judgment.  The court 

did not resolve any disputed questions concerning the applicable 

law.  It did not blaze any new legal trail.  It decided instead that 

Premera failed to establish, or create triable issues of fact 
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concerning, two well-settled factual prerequisites for a claim of 

unlawful, anticompetitive tying: (i) the existence of distinct tied 

and tying products; and (ii) the seller (TEC) coerced the buyer 

(Premera) into purchasing the allegedly tied product.1 

Thus, the Court of Appeals decision is a case-specific 

application of settled law based on this particular record.  It 

creates no conflict with any other decision—precedential or 

otherwise.  It does not involve any constitutional issue.  And it 

does not implicate any issue of significant public interest.  It 

simply means that Premera, a large, sophisticated health insurer, 

is held to its agreement to pay TEC rates for services provided to 

Premera enrollees at all TEC locations.  Premera no longer 

disputes this contract obligation, now that the Court of Appeals 

has settled it.  Premera drafted key parts of the contract that led 

 
1 Premera linked its CPA claim to establishing an unlawful tying 
arrangement under state and federal antitrust laws.  The only 
other theory of a CPA violation that Premera argued to the Court 
of Appeals was not presented in the trial court and was further 
forfeited on appeal because of Premera’s inadequate briefing.  
(Op. 25 n.17.)  Premera does not dispute these determinations. 
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to the decision.  The resulting enforcement of Premera’s 

agreement does not increase rates on any broad basis.  Instead, it 

brings the rates at TEC’s modestly-sized Bellevue Clinic into 

line with those Premera has agreed to pay at all other TEC clinics 

and prevents Premera from continuing to renege on its promise 

that it would pay in the same way for services at all TEC 

locations. And, of course, it clarifies the parties’ contract rights, 

namely, Premera agreed to pay the same rates for the same kinds 

of healthcare services at all of TEC’s approximate, thirty 

locations.  Except insofar as the Bellevue Clinic is concerned, 

Premera’s lawsuit has never challenged the lawfulness of those 

rates.   

None of these circumstances raise review-worthy 

concerns relating to antitrust law, tying, consumer protection or 

free competition.  There are established bodies of state and 

federal law that are available to address, when appropriate, 

anticompetitive consolidation in the health care industry.  The 

decision here does not concern or intrude upon any of them.  
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Premera attempted here a novel and inapt theory of unlawful 

tying which it proved unable to support with appropriate 

evidence.  The CPA ruling is nothing more than that.  No further 

appellate court resources should be devoted to it. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Basic Facts 

Premera is one of Washington’s largest health insurers, 

serving more than 2 million Washingtonians. (Op. 2.)  TEC is a 

physician group providing health care services in Washington at 

approximately 30 locations, including in Snohomish and King 

Counties. (Id.).  In 2009, TEC and Premera entered a contract 

(the “Premera-TEC Contract”) pursuant to which Premera 

agreed to pay specified rates (“TEC Rates”) for services TEC 

provides to Premera enrollees at TEC’s facilities in Washington.  

(Id.)  In that agreement, Premera reserved the rights to 

unilaterally promulgate new rates and to terminate without cause 

following 90-days’ notice.2  (CP 2334 (Section 7.01).) 

 
2 TEC may push-back on any new rates Premera promulgates, in 
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In 2015, Premera entered into a provider agreement (the 

“Premera-EFMC Contract”) with the Eastside Family Medical 

Clinic (“EFMC”), a medical practice owned and operated by 

three physicians in Bellevue.  The rates under this contract 

(“EFMC Rates”) were lower than the TEC Rates.  (CP. 3.) 

In 2018, TEC acquired many, but not all, of EFMC’s 

assets.  (Op. 3.)  The Premera-EFMC Contract was not among 

the acquired assets.  (Id.) Following the acquisition, TEC began 

operating its own Bellevue Clinic and sought to charge TEC 

Rates.  (Id.)  Premera refused to pay them, insisting TEC could 

only charge EFMC Rates.  (Id.) 

B. Trial Court Proceedings 

TEC sued for breach of contract.  (Op. 4.)  In response, 

Premera asserted, among other things, that TEC is bound by the 

Premera-EFMC Contract under successor liability doctrines.  

(Id.)  Premera also filed counterclaims, asserting breach of 

 
which case the parties must either negotiate or terminate their 
contract.  (CP 2334-35 (describing dispute resolution process).) 
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contract against TEC and EFMC, tortious interference with the 

Premera-EFMC Contract against TEC and the prior owners of 

EFMC, and a violation of the CPA.  (Id.)  The CPA claim was 

primarily premised on an alleged “per se tying arrangement.”3  

(CP 227.) 

 
3 A tying violation may also be pursued under the “[R]ule of 
[R]eason,” which requires “a fact-specific assessment of market 
power and market structure” in order to determine a restraint’s 
actual effect on competition.  Ohio v. Am. Express, 138 S. Ct. 
2274, 2284 (2018).  The plaintiff has the initial burden of 
showing the restraint has substantial anticompetitive effects that 
harm consumers.  The defendant must then show procompetitive 
justifications.  The plaintiff then rejoins by showing 
procompetitive justifications may be achieved by less 
anticompetitive means. Id. at 2284.  Premera did not invoke the 
Rule of Reason. 
In the Court of Appeals, Premera’s only other theory of a CPA 
violation was that, when TEC negotiated to buy EFMC assets, it 
allegedly received information about EFMC’s rates.  According 
to Premera, the acquisition and use of that information violated 
the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1.  But Premera has not pursued 
this theory in this Court and it is without merit.  As the Court of 
Appeals recognized, Premera effectively forfeited this argument 
when it failed to pursue it in the trial court and presented on 
appeal “conclusory arguments that are unsupported by citation of 
authority.” (Op. 25 n.17.)  
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After claims against EFMC were dismissed, Premera and 

TEC filed competing motions for summary judgment.  (Op. 5.)  

The trial court—without explanation or reasoning—granted 

Premera’s motion and denied TEC’s.  (CP 1457-1463.)  The 

court then awarded Premera more than $1.25 million in 

attorneys’ fees and costs as the prevailing plaintiff on the CPA 

claim.  (CP 2044.) 

C. The Court of Appeals Decision 

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed 

the summary judgment for Premera on the claims for declaratory 

relief, breach of contract, and a CPA violation (along with the 

associated attorney’s fee/cost awards).  The court directed the 

trial court to grant TEC’s motion for summary judgment on the 

issues of liability relating to claims for breach of the Premera-

TEC Contract, for a violation of the CPA, and for declaratory 

relief.  (Op. 25-26.) 
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1. Successor Liability 

The Court of Appeals rejected Premera’s contention that 

TEC was required to accept EFMC Rates for services provided 

to Premera enrollees at the Bellevue Clinic.  Only the Premera-

EFMC Contract used EFMC Rates.  Thus, the Court of Appeals 

correctly recognized a determinative issue to be whether the 

doctrine of successor liability applied to make TEC liable as the 

“Provider” under that contract with those EFMC Rates.  The 

court rejected both of Premera’s arguments for imposing such 

liability, holding the record failed to establish either a de facto 

merger of TEC and EFMC or that TEC was a mere continuation 

of EFMC.  (Op. 10-16.) 

2. Breach of Contract 

Next, the court rejected Premera’s argument that TEC 

breached the Premera-TEC Contract, specifically Section 9.02A, 

by failing to obtain Premera’s consent before applying the 

contract’s TEC Rates to services provided at the Bellevue Clinic.  

(Op. 17-21.)  Section 9.02A requires written consent before any 
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“attempt to apply the terms of this Agreement, in whole or in 

part, to Covered Services provided to Enrollees by another 

Provider, Practitioner, person or entity, without Plan’s prior 

written consent.”  Because Premera drafted this provision — and 

many other relevant ones — “any ambiguities …. are construed 

against it.” (Op. 19.)  The Court of Appeals correctly reasoned 

that TEC’s acquisition of EFMC assets, which it used to open its 

own Bellevue Clinic, did not cause “another Provider, 

Practitioner, Person or Entity” to operate TEC’s Bellevue Clinic.  

(Op. 18.)  TEC’s Bellevue Clinic has at all times been owned and 

operated by TEC, not “another Provider.”  That means Section 

9.02A and its consent mechanism is inapplicable.  (Op. 19.)  

In addition to relying on the contract language Premera 

drafted, the Court of Appeals invoked undisputed evidence of the 

parties’ course of dealing.  The Premera-TEC Contract provides 

that TEC may add new practitioners at its clinics and charge TEC 

Rates for their services.  (Op. 19.)  Accordingly, TEC opened 

clinics in Edmonds, Woodinville, Bothell and Kirkland after the 
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Premera-TEC Contract was signed.  Premera paid TEC Rates for 

services provided at these clinics, confirming what the plain 

language of the contract established: the parties intended to apply 

TEC Rates to services at all TEC locations, including those 

opened after the Premera-TEC Contract took effect.  (Op. 20.) 

Because Premera agreed to pay TEC Rates for services at 

all TEC locations, it breached the Premera-TEC Contract when 

it refused to pay those rates for Bellevue Clinic services.  Thus, 

the Court of Appeals held, the trial court erred when it did not 

grant summary judgment to TEC on both its and Premera’s 

breach of contract claims.4  (Op. 20-21.) 

3. The CPA Claim 

Turning to Premera’s claim that “TEC violated the CPA 

by engaging in unlawful tying,” (Op. 21.) the court determined 

“that the record does not establish a question of fact regarding 

unlawful tying.”  (Op. 21.)  “[T]he essential characteristic of an 

 
4 The damages Premera owes for its breach are an issue to be 
resolved in the trial court on remand. 
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invalid tying arrangement lies in the seller’s exploitation of its 

control over the tying product to force the buyer into the purchase 

of a tied product that the buyer either did not want at all, or might 

have preferred to purchase elsewhere on different terms.”  

(Op. 22 (quoting Jefferson Parish Hosp. Dist. No. 2 v. Hyde, 466 

U.S. 2, 12 (1984), abrogated on other grounds by Illinois Tool 

Works Inc. v. Indep. Ink, Inc., 547 U.S. 28 (2006)). 

Starting with the requirement of separate products, the 

Court of Appeals held that Premera failed to carry its burden of 

proving its theory that “TEC physician services in Snohomish 

County and physician services at EFMC in Bellevue are two 

different products.”  (Op. 23.)  As the court noted, establishing 

distinct products turns “on the character of the demand for the 

two items.”  (Id. at 23 (quoting Jefferson Parish, 466 U.S. at 19).)  

The record lacked sufficient evidence to show that TEC’s 

“physician services” being provided at its different clinical 

locations should be considered separate products.  (Op.  24-25.) 
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Turning to the requirement of coercion necessary for a 

tying claim, the court correctly perceived insufficient evidence 

that TEC pressured Premera into agreeing to purchase any 

service it did not want.  (Op. 24.)  “The presence of ‘forcing’ is 

a key indicator of restraint on competition in the market for the 

tied item.”  (Op. 22, discussing Jefferson Parish, 466 U.S. at 12.)  

Through the Premera-TEC Contract, Premera purchased TEC’s 

services at all TEC facilities as a bundle that it could then market 

to its insureds and prospective insureds.  With no evidence that 

Premera was coerced into making this purchase, Premera’s CPA 

claim boils down to mere dissatisfaction with the financial 

impact of the contractual bargain it struck when it agreed to pay 

TEC rates at all TEC locations.  This situation of Premera’s own 

making is neither unlawful tying nor a violation of the CPA.  (Op. 

24.)  Consequently, the Court of Appeals held that “TEC was 

entitled to summary judgment and dismissal of the CPA claim.”  

(Op. 25.) 
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III. REASONS TO DENY REVIEW 

Under RAP 13.4, “[a] petition for review will be accepted 

by the Supreme Court only: (1) if the decision of the Court of 

Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 

published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant 

question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington 

or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves 

an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined 

by the Supreme Court.”  (RAP 13.4(b).)  Premera’s petition only 

seeks review under (b)(4).  But Premera fails to establish any 

issue of “substantial public interest.” 

A. The Issues Premera Presents For Review Are 
Not Those Decided By The Court of Appeals And 
They Do Not Concern Matters of Substantial 
Public Interest. 

As already noted, Premera does not challenge the Court of 

Appeals’ determinations that TEC was not bound by the 

Premera-EFMC Contract or that Premera agreed, in the Premera-
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TEC Contract, to pay TEC Rates for services at all TEC 

locations, including the Bellevue Clinic. 

With respect to the court’s CPA ruling, Premera frames 

two issues:  whether the Court of Appeals erred when it 

determined that “as a matter of law (1) similar services offered 

in different geographical markets cannot represent different 

products for purposes of a tying claim, and (2) TEC did not 

utilize unlawful ‘coercion’ because Premera and consumers 

continued to use EFMC’s services after the 50% rate increase.”  

(Pet. 4.) 

But, contrary to Premera’s misrepresentations, the Court 

of Appeals announced no generally applicable rule of law.  It 

applied settled jurisprudence to conclude that “the record” failed 

to establish a question of fact regarding two essential 

requirements of the “tying” claim Premera alleged.  (Op. 21.)  

That decision does not concern any matter of substantial public 

interest.  And given the narrowness of the Court of Appeals’ 
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decision, this case is not a suitable vehicle for announcing any 

broadly applicable rules of law. 

1. Separate Products 

Premera has maintained since the trial court proceedings 

that “the tying product is TEC’s services in Snohomish County, 

and the tied product are [sic] services at the EFMC location at 

TEC rates.”  (CP 227.)  Establishing these services to be distinct 

products for a tying claim depends on the existence of sufficient 

demand for these services separately.  (Op. 23; Jefferson Parish, 

466 U.S. at 19-22.)  Premera, as the operative consumer in this 

case, purchased TEC’s services throughout Washington as “one 

product,” by way of the Premera-TEC Contract.  (Op. 23.)  It did 

so in order to make its health insurance more attractive to 

consumers by offering them choice and flexibility when it comes 

to consulting doctors.  The record, however, is devoid of 

evidence of demand among health insurers for TEC services 

unbundled on a county-by-county or clinic-by-clinic basis.  See 

Epic Games, Inc. v. Apple Inc., 559 F. Supp. 3d 898, 1014-15 
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(N.D. Cal. 2021) (describing the detailed demand analysis 

needed to establish distinct product markets). 

Indeed, the record evidence pertaining to demand – 

what Premera negotiated for and obtained itself – contradicts 

Premera’s assertion of distinct product markets.  Rather than 

negotiating separately for TEC’s services in different areas, 

Premera sought and secured in the Premera-TEC Contract TEC’s 

services throughout Washington.  That allows Premera’s 

customers to receive state-wide access to TEC services, 

including from new practitioners and clinics that become 

available through TEC after the contract’s inception.  Notably, 

the contract has no geographic limits.  This is consistent with

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